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Information for this web exhibit about the Pioneer Yosemite History Center has been gathered from many sources. They are acknowledged in text or the references section. Photographs not credited were taken by me. I’d like to thank those historians that preserved the stories here, and Doug Hubbard who preserved the buildings, that made the Pioneer Yosemite History Center and this exhibit possible.
—Dan Anderson, July 2005
Copyright © 2005 by Dan E. Anderson. All rights reserved.
Pioneer Yosemite History Center n. A place of pioneers who profoundly influenced the birth and growth of the National Park idea. |
![]() [click to enlarge] Wagon ride with driver Burrel Maier |
The Pioneer Yosemite History Center consists of historic structures from different eras of Yosemite history. Originally constructed in different locations in Yosemite, they were moved to Wawona in the late 1950’s and early 1960’s. As you walk among them, it is important to remember that the area does not represent a village. Instead, each building represents a different chapter in the Yosemite story.
[click to enlarge] Doug Hubbard (YRL) |
![]() [click to enlarge] Wawona, location of Pioneer Yosemite History Center |
Due to budget cuts, the Living History Program, where docents assume the roles of historic personalities, is no longer running. However, the buildings are usually open Wednesday - Sunday during the summer. Hours vary—check at Wawona Information Station in the old Hill Studio next to the Wawona Hotel. It’s worthwhile to take some time to visit the Pioneer Yosemite History Center, and with the stories presented here on these historical buildings, your visit should be more interesting. A riding stable behind the History Center is also open summers, and offers guided horseback rides.
The Pioneer Yosemite History Center is located in Wawona, about 4 miles from the park’s South Entrance along the Wawona Road, and is just a short walk from the Wawona Store parking lot. It is free and always open. Interpretive signs and self-guiding brochures are available. Ten-minute wagon rides are available from the Wells Fargo Building on summer weekends. Stable rides are available in summer from the Yosemite Stable behind (north of) the History Center.
An Environmental Living Program, funded by participating schools, is available where school children and their teachers live the roles of historic Yosemite pioneers.
![]() [click to enlarge] Wawona, location of Covered Bridge |
![]() [click to enlarge] Wagon covered bridge and mud wagon with driver Burrel Maier |
The road from Wawona to the Yosemite Valley opened in 1875 just after the Washburn brothers purchased Clark’s land along the river. The brothers, who were from Vermont, covered the bridge in 1879. Although the large beams were hand-hewn with ax and adze, the lumber to cover the bridge was cut locally at the Washburn’s sawmill. Speciality axes were used to hew round logs into square timbers and mortice and tenon joints were used to join the timbers. Bridges were covered primarily to protect the large wood truss beams and flooring from the weather. It is much easier to reshingle a roof than to replace the major supporting structures. The covering also helped horses stay focused on the road rather than the sometimes raging river in spring. Did the Washburn brothers cover the bridge exclusively for practical reasons? Maybe so. But a granddaughter claims the reason was nostalgia — they were homesick for a bit of New England.
![]() [click to enlarge] Covered bridge from South Fork Merced River |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
Gordo and his workmen shored up the bridge’s sagging middle, used pieces of heavy pipe, and with a bulldozer-powered winch rolled it smoothly ashore. After months of intensive work, during which the deteriorating timbers, siding, and roof were replaced, the process was reversed and the bridge rolled back to its original position. [Shirley Sargent Protecting Paradise (1998), p. 110.]
![]() [click to enlarge] |
As you cross the bridge, listen for the low rumble of an oncoming stage and allow your imagination to return to the days of Yosemite’s pioneers.
![]() [click to enlarge] Jorgensen’s home was originally located just upstream from Sentinel Bridge, across the Merced River from the Old Village in Yosemite Valley. |
![]() [click to enlarge] “The Bungalow” |
Artists were among the first pioneers to enjoy and appreciate this area for the sake of its natural beauty and grandeur. Explorers, writers, and early tourist parties of the 1850’s returned from Yosemite with stories of spectacular beauty. It is they who brought to public attention the magnificence of 30-foot wide trees and 1,000-foot waterfalls, instilling a sense of wonder in those who had never seen the Yo-Semite.
![]() [click to enlarge] Chris Jorgensen painting Wawona Tunnel Tree |
![]() [click to enlarge] “The Bungalow” |
![]() [click to enlarge] Half Dome from Washburn Point Area. Watercolor by Christian Jorgensen (Yosemite Museum) |
In 1921 the Yosemite Museum was established and housed in the old Jorgensen cabin. This was the first museum in a National Park. Chris Jorgensen donated his extensive Native American basket collection to the newly-established Yosemite Museum in 1923. In 1926 a “permanent” museum was built in the new Yosemite Village, partly on donations from school children and others.
Chris Jorgensen died in 1935 and the Yosemite Museum acquired 198 oil and watercolor paintings from his heirs. These were on display until around 1966 when the Yosemite Museum was closed for use as administrative offices. Unfortunately, since the museum closure the public cannot view his art or other Museum collections.
In 1962 the Park Service razed the earlier Jorgensen studio and residence (built in 1900) and moved the latter bungalow (built in 1903) to the Yosemite Pioneer History Center, in the mistaken belief that it was the studio building. So, unfortunately, the latter Jorgensen home that was preserved instead of his studio. The Jorgensen Cabin is listed in the National Register of Historic Places (art, local).
![]() [click to enlarge] Big Meadows (now Foresta), original location of Anderson Home |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
This simple cabin of George Anderson was built in the 1870s. Anderson used this floorless cabin as his residence when not working elsewhere in the area. He spent his winters in this building and his summers as a blacksmith in Yosemite Valley. The cabin was originally located near Big Meadow, northwest of Yosemite Valley (now called Foresta).
![]() (NPS) |
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Although Yosemite Valley and the Mariposa Grove had been set aside for protection by the State of California in 1864, prior claims to the land caused legal battles between residents and the government. Land claims would be fought for many years.
In Shirley Sargent’s Protecting Paradise, Jim Cuneo is asked by Doug Hubbard how the small cabin was furnished. He said “Gunny sacks and maybe a blanket on a make-shift bed.” For the kitchen, “A wood stove; frying pan and a saucepan or two.” For dishes, “Maybe a plate, but he probably ate straight out of the pan, I do.” Flour hung from rafters to keep the mice away. The chair is made of deerskin.
The Anderson Cabin is listed in the National Register of Historic Places (exploration/settlement, local).
![]() [click to enlarge] Aspen Valley, original location of cabin |
![]() [click to enlarge] The Hodgdon cabin is the only two-story log cabin in Yosemite National Park. |
The idea of protecting the watersheds of the Yosemite area, by means of a natural preserve surrounding the state grant, gained popularity. The Homestead Act of 1862 provided for 160 acres (65 hectares) of land to any person willing to occupy and cultivate the land for five years. Much of the high country around Yosemite Valley had also been claimed by the late 1800’s. Were such a natural preserve to be set aside, would these homesteads be reclaimed by the government? Or, could homesteaders play an important role in meeting the needs of increasing numbers of visitors?
![]() (NPS) |
![]() [click to enlarge] Kitchen and woodlot |
In the late 1880’s, John Muir and other preservationists grew concerned that the damage caused by cattle and sheep in the high country would impact the watershed and Yosemite’s waterfalls. This led to Congress establishing Yosemite National Park in 1890. The Hodgeons were opposed to the park’s creation as they feared they will have to sell their land and lose their livelihood.
![]() [click to enlarge] Front inside of cabin |
The Hodgdon cabin was originally located in Aspen Valley, on the old Tioga Road, it was dismantled trucked to Wawona for the History Center. The cabin was photographed and each log numbered for reassembly. Historian Margaret Schlichtmann, author of The Big Oak Flat Road to Yosemite provided historic furnishings for the cabin. Mrs. Schlichtmann for a time played the role of Mrs. Hodgdon, sitting in a rocker on the front porch telling stories, providing the Park’s first living history. The Hodgdon Homestead Cabin is listed in the National Register of Historic Places (architecture, local).
[click to enlarge] Aspen Valley Homestead Cabin, 1909 (USGS digital file topa0078) |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
The blacksmith shop was moved from a Madera County ranch, southwest of Yosemite Park.
![]() [click to enlarge] |
![]() [click to enlarge] Camp A. E. Wood (now Wawona Campground), original location of Calvary office |
![]() [click to enlarge] Calvary Office |
Their headquarters was Camp A. E. Wood, now the Wawona Campground. This particular peaked-roof building was erected in Wawona as headquarters for the commanding officer who served as “Acting Superintendent” of Yosemite National Park.
Camp A. E. Wood closed in 1906 when California receded it’s grant of Yosemite Valley back to the Federal Government. The Army moved its headquarters to where Yosemite Lodge is now located. The headquarters building was moved around that time and ended up in “Soapsuds Row,” formerly near the Yosemite Lodge, in the 1950’s. This was the first of nine buildings to be moved to the History Center.
![]() A horse soldier could go anywhere, so it was logical to use the U.S. Cavalry to patrol Yosemite National Park (NPS, Yosemite Guide) |
![]() [click to enlarge] Front office of Calvary Headquarters |
![]() [click to enlarge] 24th Negro Infantry, Co. H “Buffalo Soldiers” were one of the Calvary units protecting Yosemite (Celia Crocker Thompson, 1899) |
The Acting Superintendent’s Headquarters is listed in the National Register of Historic Places (conservation, local).
[click to enlarge] Crane Flat, original location of Patrol Cabin |
![]() [click to enlarge] Crane Flat Patrol Cabin |
In 1914, the army stopped coming to the Yosemite, but the National Park Service had not as yet been established. In the intervening three years, the management of this huge park fell to a group of fifteen civilian rangers, most of whom were formerly army scouts. They were hired to protect the Park and its visitors — a big change from 150 cavalry men the previous year.
They were provided with three patrol cabins. This one, built at Crane Flat in 1915, incurred the following costs:
Materials — $250.98 Labor — $685.36
. . . a wise use of your tax dollar in the early 1900’s.
Their duties were made more difficult by the fact that automobiles were allowed to enter the park. Buildings such as this were used as automobile check stations. Here, drivers paid a fee to enter the park ($5.00 in 1915!), and were informed of regulations. Yosemite faced a critical issue during this period, as John Muir led an unsuccessful campaign to save Yosemite’s Hetch Hetchy Valley from being dammed for a domestic water supply.
![]() [click to enlarge] Jean Witter, 1915 (from Sargent’s Protecting Paradise) |
The ranger patrol cabin is furnished in a fashion reflecting the lifestyle of a ranger in the early 1920s. Jean Witter was its first inhabitant. He was one of a handful of College boy rangers who served between the time the Calvary pulled out in 1914 and before the Park Service came in in 1917. Jean Witter’s name and fraternity is carved in the cabin. Jean Witter later became a stockbroker and, with two cousins, founded Dean Witter & Company.
The ranger cabin was moved from Crane Flat in 1960. The building was:
occupied until early 1950s, then stood empty and in terrible state of repair. The building was dismantled, the floor cut into pieces, and transported to the new site. The chimney was dismantled and reconstructed using the original building materials, with new mortar. According to Mike Adams, the mason that was reconstructing the chimney built it in too “neat” a fashion and had to tear it down and rebuild it in a more rustic fashion. Reconstruction completed in 1961 at cost of $81,054.65 (Greene, p. lviii).
![]() [click to enlarge] Wells Fargo and Stage Office |
The Old Upper Village in Yosemite Valley was a hub for most visitor services. Visitors arriving by horse-drawn or auto stage used this office to make railroad and lodging reservations, place long-distance phone calls, or send telegrams.
When the spur railroad form Merced reached El Portal in 1907, the stage industry suffered. The first automobiles were permitted to enter the park, under strict regulation, in 1914. As automobiles became a successful mode of transportation the stages were doomed.
![]() [click to enlarge] Front office of Wells Fargo station |
By 1914, automobiles were common in Yosemite, and in that year horse-drawn stage service was discontinued. However, annual visitation to Yosemite in 1915 doubled to 31,000. Consequently, stage operations were renewed. In 1916, the era of stage travel ended and another began. The National Park Service, a federal agency created to preserve and manage our country’s national parks, was established.
In summer, 10--minute stage rides may be purchased here when the office is open.
The Yosemite Transportation Company Office building is of an unusual rustic design. It is 24-feet (7 m.) square and made of pine poles and cedar bark. The building is listed in the National Register of Historic Places (architecture and transportation, local).
![]() [click to enlarge] The White motor stage in front of the Wells Fargo office in Yosemite was the first motor stage to arrive in Yosemite Valley (Nov. 19, 1913) (Hank Johnston, Yosemite’s Yesterdays, II) |
The Wells Fargo building was difficult to move to Wawona. It was three feet too wide for the Wawona Tunnel, but Glenn Gordo, master craftsman and builder from Mariposa, realized that the main hall ran from front to back so he chainsawed three feet out and squeezed the building together. He set up a generator and strung lights all around it and one night after midnight we dragged it through the tunnel, scraping first on one side and then the other! [ Yosemite 65:2 (Spr. 2003)]
![]() [click to enlarge] The Bakery was originally located in the Old Village in Yosemite Valley, east of the chapel. |
![]() [click to enlarge] Degnan Bakery and Kitchen |
In the bakery Bridget prepared bread for sale in a brick oven that yielded 100 loaves per baking. His wife, Bridget, added to the family’s income by selling bread she baked daily in Dutch ovens for 12 1/2¢ a loaf. The demand for Mrs. Degnan’s bread increased steadily as travel to Yosemite grew. A larger portable oven, capable of producing 50 loaves a day, was used for a time. In 1900 the Degnans ordered a large brick oven for a more permanent bakery. The Degnans sold these and other baked goods through the store.
![]() [click to enlarge] John and Bridget Degnan and family about 1896. Back row: Daisy, Ruth, and Laurence Degnan. Front row: Christopher, Alfred, Mary Elen, and John Degnan. | ![]() [click to enlarge] John and Bridget Degnan and family Laurence is at far right. (YRL) |
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![]() [click to enlarge] The Jail was originally located in the Old Village in Yosemite Valley, on the south side of the road |
![]() [click to enlarge] Powderhouse and Jail |
Later, the powder house was converted into a jail — a very poor one. In 1915, two young car thieves escaped by digging away the mortar between the rocks with a leg they had twisted off the rickety steel frame cot. The pair claimed the task was so easy that they waited until after breakfast to perform their escape. Patrol rangers recaptured them, and shackled them by leg irons to the corners. Following this incident, horseshoes were embedded in the floor to provide a chain base of greater security. Occasionally, the powder house-jail also served as a morgue.
The powderhouse jail was moved to Wawona by splitting it in two, shoring up with heavy vertical timbers, then dragging onto a trailer bedded with old tires. Doug Hubbard remembers
The old jail, from the Yosemite Valley, a tiny structure of rough granite blocks and soft mortar gave Gordo some headaches. It had a foot or so or sand above its ceiling, a fire proofing technique dating back to its original use as a powder house. [Shirley Sargent Protecting Paradise (1998), p. 112.]
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![]() [click to enlarge] Inside view of powderhouse |
![]() [click to enlarge] Wawona, location of Gray Barn |
![]() [click to enlarge] Gray Barn was originally a garage |
During the days of stagecoach travel, there were a number of barns, corrals and related structures around here. This is the original location of the “Washburn Barn” built around 1895 by the Yosemite Stage and Turnpike Company. The Company, run by the Washburn Brothers who built the Wawona Hotel, provided transportation between Raymond and Yosemite Valley and to the Mariposa Grove of Giant Sequoias.
This Gray Barn was built in the early 1920s and served as a garage for the Shell Service Station that once operated on the old Wawona Road, before the Road was relocated over a newer concrete bridge downstream in 1931.
![]() [click to enlarge] Students in ELP class |
On the Fourth of July and other dates in summer, traditional dances are held in the Gray Barn, with callers and “do-si-do” lessons.
![]() [click to enlarge] Shed protecting wagons and stagecoaches. Farm equipment on right. |
The Pioneer Yosemite History Center’s collection of restored and authentic stagecoaches represents early travel to the Yosemite region. After a train-ride from San Francisco to the terminus in the small foothill town of Raymond, Yosemite was still a two-day ride by stage. The stage trip was a bruising one, and one which left passengers covered with a fine coat of dust. The stage drivers were literally the “Kings of the Road,” commanding respect from all their passengers as they navigated the rocky roads, the hair-pin curves, and dealt with the occasional bandits along the route.
![]() [click to enlarge] |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
Except for the lack of a tip, this type reminds one of a modern station wagon. The term spring wagon refers to the combination of steel springs on which the box and seat are mounted. We believe this particular spring wagon was brought into Yosemite by pioneers Bob McGregor & Frank Ewing.
![]() [click to enlarge] |
![]() [click to enlarge] |
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Galen Clark “brought the first wagon into Yosemite Valley. Charles Tuttle, the first white boy born in Yosemite, rehearsed the sensation created by this event: ‘I was a boy of eight or nine years when the first wagon was brought into the Valley. Galen Clark had it packed in on mule back. I had never been out of the Valley and had never seen a wagon. Everybody was interested to see it assembled. When all was in readiness three or four days were given to celebrate the event and everybody living in the Valley had a free ride; I will never forget those days! They were wonderful!’ In 1889 John Muir writes: ‘I find Old Galen Clark also. He looks well and is earning a living by carrying passengers about the Valley.’ The old wagon is an interesting and prized relic. [“Galen Clark,” Yosemite Indians and Other Sketches (1936) by Mrs. H. J. Taylor.]
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Pat Kelley made many trips between the towns of Sonora and Milton in this wagon. This one was built in the Egling Shop at Chinese Camp.
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Issues such as preservation versus use, overcrowding, automobile traffic, and private land ownership in the park confounded the pioneers. Solutions to some issues elude us today. What is the future of Yosemite National Park? What role will you play in its preservation?
http://www.yosemite.ca.us/pioneer-yosemite-history-center/